

# **GERMANY**

## Key contextual data

Compiled by

**Inge Schreyer and Pamela Oberhuemer** 

The authors would like to thank **Sigrid Lorenz** (Munich) for her assessment of system-related challenges and **Kirsten Hanssen** (Munich) for reviewing this synopsis.

Zitiervorschlag:

Schreyer, I., and P. Oberhuemer. 2024. "Germany – Key contextual data." In *Early childhood workforce profiles across Europe. 33 country reports with key contextual data*, edited by P. Oberhuemer and I. Schreyer. Munich: State Institute for Early Childhood Research and Media Literacy. www.seepro.eu/English/Country-Reports/htm

Funded by:



Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth



State Institute for Early Childhood Research and Media Literacy



## Contents

Early childhood education and care (ECEC)	3
Historical milestones in ECEC in Germany	3
ECEC system type and auspices	4
General objectives and legislative framework	5
ECEC entitlement and compulsory attendance	6
Main types of provision	6
Provider structures	7
Participation rates in regulated ECEC provision	9
Financing and costs for parents	10
Staff to child ratios and group size	11
Curricular frameworks	11
Digital education	12
Monitoring – evaluation	13
Inclusion agenda	15
Children with special educational needs and disabilities	15
Children with a migration background – children from Roma communities	15
Parental leave arrangements	
Current challenges for the ECEC system in Germany (Sigrid Lorenz)	
Demographic data	19
Total population	
Total fertility rate	19
Children under age 6	
Single households with children under age 6	
Employment rates of parents with children under 6 years of age	
Children at risk of poverty or social exclusion	
References	22
Appendix – Federal state curricular frameworks 2023	29

\* \* \*

## Early childhood education and care (ECEC)

#### Please note

In alignment with country-specific usage, the general term used in this synopsis for the main forms of provision is **ECEC centre** (*Kindertageseinrichtung, Kita* 0–5<sup>1</sup>). The term **nursery** (*Kinderkrippe*) is used for settings specifically for under 3 year-olds and **kindergarten** for settings for children aged 2/3–5 years. Any additional forms are described where appropriate.

Founding of the first custodial institution ( <i>Kleinkinderbewahranstalt</i> ) for children u		
to the age of four in Detmold by Princess Pauline zu Lippe-Detmold		
Institutions (also known as <i>Kleinkinderschulen</i> ) are founded along confessional lines		
and by philanthropic associations for neglected children of the poor.		
Friedrich Froebel (1782-1852) founds the first "kindergarten" in Blankenburg (Thür-		
ingia) with a comprehensive approach towards early childhood education – inten-		
tionally open for children of all social classes, but fees in effect excluded poor fam-		
ilies.		
Public discussion of Froebel's proposal to integrate the kindergarten into the gen-		
eral education system. There is no state financial support for either confessional		
Kleinkinderschulen or non-confessional kindergartens.		
Kindergartens are banned by the Prussian government until 1860.		
There is still virtually no financial support for kindergartens from the state.		
Around 13% of 3 to 5 year-olds attend a kindergarten, with marked regional varia-		
tions.		
The Reich Schools Conference (Reichsschulkonferenz) debates whether kindergar-		
tens should be part of the school system or assigned to social welfare.		
National Youth Welfare Act (Reichsjugendwohlfahrtgesetz) assigns kindergartens to		
the social welfare sector and provides a prerogative for private (confessional) provi-		
sion. ECEC settings come under the responsibility of the youth office as part of the		
municipal welfare authorities and are thus excluded from public education. To this		
day, the majority of child and youth welfare services are provided by non-govern-		
mental organisations.		
With the onset of the Nazi regime, progressive approaches in kindergartens		
(Reformpädagogik) come to an abrupt halt. Kindergartens are gradually appropri-		
ated by the National Socialist Welfare Organisation and come under the influence		
of Nazi ideology.		
In the socialist and centralised German Democratic Republic (GDR) the participation		
of women in the labour market is a declared political goal, supported by the devel-		
opment of a system of full-day kindergartens and nurseries, both of which have an		
explicitly educational mission. The decentralised Federal Republic of Germany (FRG)		
follows a distinctly different policy agenda. Expansion is slow and provision levels		
are much lower than in the GDR. Kindergartens for 3 to 6 year-olds are open on a		
predominantly part-time basis only.		

#### **Historical milestones in ECEC in Germany**

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Editors' note: International data sources use varying ways of presenting the age range of children enrolled in ECEC settings. We have chosen the following age-inclusive format for the SEEPRO-3 reports: **0–2** years for children **up to** 3 years of age and **3–5** years for 3, 4 and 5 year-olds in countries with a primary school entry age of 6 years, as in Germany.

1000	Following the unification of the two Corners states a new follow been the	
1990	Following the unification of the two German states, a new federal-level law, the	
	Child and Youth Services Act (Book Eight of the Social Code), comes into force (1990	
	in the eastern and 1991 in the western <i>Länder</i> ).	
1996	Legal entitlement to a kindergarten place for 3 to 6 year-olds is introduced, leading	
	to a steady expansion of kindergartens. The level of services for under 3 year-olds	
	improves only minimally during this time. By 2002, the overall level of provision has	
	risen to 9%, but differences between the eastern Länder (37%) and the western	
	Länder (3%) remain significant.	
2002	Early childhood education starts to move up the policy agenda. Two strategies in	
	particular mark a significant change of direction in the history of ECEC in Germany.	
	One is the decision to introduce official curricular guidelines for the early childhood	
	sector, which are successively issued between 2003 and 2008 in all 16 Länder; the	
	other is a government commitment to expand places for under 3 year-olds to pro-	
	vide coverage for 35% of this age group by 2013 and guaranteeing entitlement to a	
	place for children aged 1 and 2 years.	
2004	Inter-ministerial (Youth Affairs/Education) agreement at federal level on a (non-	
	mandatory) Common Framework for Early Education in ECEC centres.	
	The Childcare Expansion Act comes into force.	
2008	The Childcare Funding Act (KiFög) comes into force.	
2013 All children in Germany from the age of 13 months are entitled to a plac		
	based or home-based ECEC provision.	
2013 - 2018	Increased federal funding leads to a rapid expansion of ECEC settings, especially of	
	places for under 3 year-olds. By 2018, the enrolment rate for this age group	
	risen to 33.6% (compared to 9% in 2002).	
2019	A "Law for the advancement of quality and participation in ECEC" (Gute-Kita-Ge-	
	setz) comes into force, aiming to improve quality in 10 areas through written con-	
	tracts between the federal government (Bund) and the 16 regional governments	
	(Länder) and to introduce new monitoring and evaluation measures.	
2019	From 2019 to 2022 the federal government funds a comprehensive "Staffing Cam-	
	paign" programme to help towards easing the shortage of staff in the ECEC sector.	
2021	The Act on All-Day Provision for Children of Primary School Age (GaFöG) of 2 October	
	establishes a legal entitlement to all-day education and care provision for primary	
	school-age children on a staggered basis up to 2029.	
2022	Revised version of the 2004 (non-mandatory) Common Framework for Early Educa-	
	tion in ECEC centres	
2023	The KiTa Quality Act comes into force on 1 January. In 2023 and 2024, the federal	
-	government is supporting the Länder in the implementation of quality enhancement	
	measures and improving participation in ECEC with a total of around 4 billion euros.	

Sources: Erning 1987; Ebert 2006, 2021; BMFSFJ 2013; Franke-Meyer 2016, 2024; Destatis 2019; Willekens and Scheiwe 2020; BMFSFJ 2023a

#### ECEC system type and auspices

In the Federal Republic of Germany, ECEC settings for the years before compulsory schooling starts are part of the child and youth welfare system. Over 100 years ago, the Reich Youth Welfare Act (1922) established that kindergartens were not part of the public education system (Franke-Meyer 2024). This decision remains valid up to the present day and was only overturned during the 40-year existence of the German Democratic Republic.

The system of early childhood education and care in Germany comprises not only centre-based ECEC settings (nurseries, kindergartens, multi-age centres), but also home-based childcare provision as well as complementary education and care services for school-age children. Federalism

and subsidiarity are the underlying political and organisational principles with regard to the legislation, regulation and funding of these different types of setting.

In a system of multi-level governance, responsibilities are shared between the federal government, the 16 *Länder* and the local authorities – in partnership with non-governmental, voluntary child and youth welfare agencies.

At the **federal level** (*Bund*), the main responsibility lies with the Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth, which has "stimulatory competence" (*Anregungskompetenz*) regarding ECEC. At the **regional level** (*Länder*), the federal states implement the federallevel requirements through the supreme state youth authorities, which are usually a unit within the social affairs ministry or (less common) the ministry of education. They are responsible for regulating the issues not determined by federal law. At the **local level** (*Kommunen*), the municipalities (districts, towns, boroughs) are in charge of organising and securing funding for early education and childcare provision. To this end, they work together with non-governmental agencies, mainly voluntary youth welfare associations and church organisations. The public youth welfare authority has the basic overall responsibility for ensuring the implementation of child and youth welfare policies. This multi-level policy-making can lead to considerable regional differences (Diskowski 2006; Oberhuemer 2014; ICEC 2023).

#### General objectives and legislative framework

The overarching goals at federal level are set out in Book Eight of the Social Code (*Sozialge-setzbuch VIII, Kinder- und Jugendhilfe*) (BMFSFJ 2020a) - also known as the Child and Youth Services Act (KJHG 1990, with amendments). These include supporting children in their individual and social development; complementing family upbringing practices; and supporting parents in balancing employment and family duties. The overall approach combines three interlinked dimensions: education (*Bildung*), care (*Betreuung*) and upbringing (*Erziehung*). ECEC settings are to be adapted to the needs of the children and their families in terms of pedagogy and organisation. Parents are to be included in key decision-making processes.

The principles and requirements of Book Eight of the Social Code (SGB VIII) are transposed into regional legislation by the parliaments of the 16 federal states (*Länder*) and implemented by the state ministries/state youth welfare offices. A significant amendment made to the Child and Youth Services Act in 1996 was the provision of a legal entitlement to a kindergarten place for children between the ages of 3 and school entry. Some *Länder* had already established legal entitlements by this time. Further changes in federal-level legislation include the 2005 Day Care Expansion Act (TAG), the 2005 Child and Youth Welfare Development Act (KICK), and the 2009 Childcare Funding Act (KiFög).

In 2019, the Act on the Further Development of Quality and Participation in ECEC (KiQuTG) – known as the *Gute-KiTa-Gesetz* – came into force (BMFSFJ 2020b). The goals are (1) to improve quality in 10 fields of action<sup>2</sup> through written agreements between the federal government and the 16 state governments, and (2) to introduce new monitoring and evaluation measures. Up to 2022, the federal government invested 5.5 billion euros in this project.

The subsequent KiTa Quality Act (1.1.2023) has extended the provisions of the *Gute-KiTa-Gesetz* beyond 2022 until the end of 2024. In 2023 and 2024, the federal government is supporting the *Länder* with a total of around 4 billion euros in measures to further develop quality and improve

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The 10 fields of action are: needs-based services; good child to staff ratios; qualified professionals; strong ECEC management; child-friendly spaces; growing up healthy; language education; good home-based provision; networks for more quality; diverse educational services.

participation in ECEC (BMFSFJ 2023a). The *Länder* can decide for themselves on which fields of action<sup>3</sup> to focus.

In addition, the Act on All-Day Provision for Children of Primary School Age (*Ganztagsförder-ungsgesetz* - GaFöG) was passed in October 2021. For the first time, children of primary school age will be granted a legal entitlement to a place in an all-day education and care programme. The entitlement begins in 2026 for children in the first grade and will apply to all grades on a staggered basis up to 2029.

#### ECEC entitlement and compulsory attendance

In Germany, there has been a federally defined legal entitlement since August 2013, as well as relevant regulations in the individual *Länder* for a place either in a centre-based or home-based ECEC setting for children from their 1<sup>st</sup> birthday until they start school (BMFSFJ 2018).

When children aged 3 years and upwards were granted this right under federal law (1996), the guaranteed "place" was not further defined in hours or days. In the meantime, ten of the 16 *Länder* have specifications which range from a guaranteed place between four to 10 hours a day. The higher levels tend to be found in eastern *Länder*. In five western *Länder* and one eastern federal state there are no specifications regarding the hourly duration of a guaranteed place. In the city state of Berlin, the guaranteed hours are extended for children who are in a facility for the homeless. In the city state of Hamburg, the total amount of guaranteed enrolment is limited to 60 hours per week (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

Attending an ECEC setting is not obligatory in Germany. Compulsory schooling begins at around 6 years of age. However, some *Länder* have provisions in school education legislation for compulsory language assessments; these may specify attending an ECEC setting prior to school enrolment (see also *Monitoring* section).

#### Main types of provision

On 1<sup>st</sup> March 2023, there were 60,045 (E)CEC facilities in Germany, with various organisational structures (Destatis/Genesis 2023<sup>4</sup>).

**(E)CEC centres** (*Kindertageseinrichtungen* – literally 'day centres for children' and increasingly referred to as *Kitas*) is an umbrella term for a broad spectrum of centre-based education and care settings, both for young children and school children up to age 12. In addition to the classic forms of nurseries and kindergartens, multi-age facilities for 0 to 6 year-olds or 0 to 14 year-olds are increasingly common, as are, for example, parent-child groups in various forms, in-company childcare services, cooperation networks between ECEC centres and other services in the neighbourhood, and foreign-language kindergartens. The number of centres which offer ECEC exclusively for children from the age of three until they start school has decreased, whereas more and more multi-age settings cater for both under 3 year-olds and 3 to under 6 year-olds. As a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In the KiTa Quality Act (2023), the previous 10 fields of action have been reduced to 7 core fields of action: needs-based provision; staff to child ratio; recruiting and maintaining qualified staff; strong management; language education; measures for child development, health, nutrition and movement; strengthening home-based provision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The cut-off date for all Federal Statistical Office figures (Destatis/Genesis 2023) used in this report is 01.03.2023. However, at the time of reporting, some more differentiated data were only available in the 2022 edition (Destatis 2023a), with a cut-off date of 01.03.2022.

rule, they open between 7:00/7:30 (70.4%) and close between 16:30/18:00 (61%) (Destatis/Genesis 2023, own calculations).

The opening hours of (E)CEC centres vary considerably; 70.4% open between 7:00/7:30 and 61% close between 16:30/18:00 (Destatis/Genesis 2023, own calculations).

**Nurseries** (*Kinderkrippen*) are ECEC settings for children under 3 years of age. The difference in the relative proportion of available places for under 3 year-olds as well as their participation rates in the eastern and western *Länder* continues, although a strong expansion of places in western Germany has helped to mitigate these disparities (see section on *Participation rates*).

**Kindergartens** were traditionally the classic and predominant form of institutional care for children from the age of 3 until they started school in the western federal states. In recent years, as a result of the extension of legal entitlement in 2013, admission procedures increasingly include 2 year-olds. The opening times of kindergartens vary considerably.

**Centres for children and families** (known mostly as *Kinder- und Familienzentren*, but with a variety of local names), provide both education/care services for children and family support for parents. This relatively new form of integrated provision in Germany has been expanding over recent years. Such centres have now been established in most federal states, either with statewide funding or targeted funding at the municipal level (Schlevogt 2021). Profiles vary considerably; however, a key aim of all such settings is to provide accessible and reliable childcare services for families and to network with relevant agencies and organisations in the community (Rauschenbach 2008).

**Deferred school-entry provision** known as *Schulkindergarten* or *Vorklasse*, is available in some *Länder* or municipalities as a specific type of institutional setting provided for 6 year-old children considered not yet ready for school. In some federal states these come under the responsibility of the school sector (e.g. since 2018 in Hesse), in others under child and youth welfare. According to Statista data (2024a, b), in 2022/23 there are 1,207 *Schulkindergärten* and *Vorklassen* in Germany in which 10,205 children are enrolled.

**Home-based ECEC provision** (*Kindertagespflege*) is an integral part of the child and youth welfare services for young children and has the same legal status at the federal level as centre-based ECEC provision. Four main forms are available: (1) as a service in the parents' own home; the parents are the employers, and no operational license is required; (2) as a service in the child carer's house: up to five children are allowed to participate at the same time (regulations differ in some *Bundesländer*); the Childcare Funding Act 2009 (*Kinderförderungsgesetz*) stipulates that if more than five children are enrolled, a pedagogical qualification is necessary. For this type of home-based provision, a local authority license is required which has to be renewed every five years; (3) a service located in third-party rooms: local authorities decide on the room suitability; (4) as a family child care network (*Großtagespflege*): In some regions several child carers may join up to provide a service for more than five children. Sometimes special regulations exist for this kind of setting, since it is sometimes difficult to distinguish it from a regular ECEC centre (BMFSFJ 2010, 10ff; Bundesverband für Kindertagespflege 2021).

#### **Provider structures**

In Germany, the child and youth welfare services, including ECEC, have traditionally been provided by non-governmental, non-profit providers (mainly the welfare associations and the Protestant and Catholic churches). Even today, they play a prominent role in the provision and organisation of early childhood education and care facilities, especially in the western *Länder*, where in 2021 there were 25,768 ECEC centres (excluding out-of-school provision) run by non-

7

profit providers compared to 5,960 ECEC centres in the eastern *Länder* (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

These responsibility structures are based on the principle of subsidiarity, under which the public sector is obliged to support non-governmental agencies and only provide social services if the NGOs are not in a position to do so. In former East Germany (GDR), public and employer-based ECEC settings were the norm. In the meantime, the number of settings in the eastern *Länder* run by independent organisations is increasing.

Currently, a further diversification of the provider landscape can be observed (Fuchs-Rechlin and Riedel 2021). In the last two decades, since about 2000, the number of "other" non-profit providers (besides the welfare and church organisations) has increased significantly. These are often smaller providers which are not members of any umbrella organisation. The share of private commercial providers is also growing, although this still makes up a small part of the overall picture (3.0%, see *Table 1*).

In 2023, there were a total of 60,045 (E)CEC centres, of which 19,930 were run by the public sector (33.2%) and 40.115 by independent providers (66.8%). The latter are divided in roughly equal parts into church and non-church providers. Overall, there is a threefold division into approximately one-third public, one-third church and one-third non-church settings, i.e. two-thirds of all (E)CEC settings are run by non-profit child and youth welfare organisations (Destatis/Genesis 2023, own calculations).

Table 1	1
---------	---

Provider type Di		Distrib	Distribution in %	
Public			33.2	
	Protestant (Diakonie)	15.6		
Church affiliated, non-profit	Catholic (Caritas)	15.	31.7	
	Other church affiliated	0.4		
	The <i>Paritätische</i> (non-governmental welfare association)	9.1		
Non-church affiliated, non- profit	Workers' Welfare Association (Arbeiterwohlfahrt)	4.6	22.4	
	German Red Cross (Deutsches Rotes Kreuz)	3.2	32.1	
	Other non-profit (e.g. parent initia- tives)	15.2		
Commercial, for-profit			3.0	

Source: Destatis/Genesis 2023, own calculations

In 2022, 220,539 under 3 year-olds and 1,020,875 children aged 3 up to school entry<sup>5</sup> were enrolled in **public** sector *Kitas*. In the same year, 485,254 of under 3 year-olds and 1,800,251 children aged 3 up to school entry, were attending **private**, mainly publicly subsidised non-profit ECEC centres (Destatis 2023a). In 2022, 28,963 (4%) of the 0–2 year-olds were enrolled in parent initiatives as were 95,007 children (4%) over 3 years of age (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

In 2023, a total of 721,551 children under 3 years of age and 2,670,366 children aged 3 up to school entry were enrolled in an ECEC centre. 1,441,101 were in public and 2,485,322 in private non-profit ECEC centres (Destatis/Genesis 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Including some children under 8 years of age not yet attending primary school.

### Participation rates in regulated ECEC provision

*Table 2* shows the overall participation rates across the country broken down into single agegroups for 2022, whereas *Table 3* indicates the distribution patterns across the western and eastern *Länder*. While there are still considerable differences in enrolment levels in centre-based settings in the western and eastern *Länder* for children up to age 3, participation rates even out for children aged 3 up to school entry. Overall, participation rates have risen over the past few years in Germany, particularly in the case of children under age 3<sup>6</sup>.

Age group	2009	2015	2022
Under 1 year	1.5	1.8	1.3
1 year-olds	16.1	28.8	30.8
2 year-olds	34.8	54.7	57.7
3 year-olds	83.1	90.0	85.3
4 year-olds	94.3	96.0	93.1
5 year-olds	97.1	96.5	95.3

Table 2	
Germany: Enrolment rates (in %) in centre-based settings by age, 200	9-2022

Source: Bock-Famulla et al. 2023

#### Table 3

#### Germany: Participation rates (in %) in centre-based and home-based settings, 2009–2022

Year	Regional distribution	Under 3 years	3 to under 6 years
Tear		in %	in %
	Western <i>Länder,</i> without Berlin	12.0	91.1
2009	Eastern Länder, including Berlin	41.3	94.6
	Germany, total	17.4	91.7
2015	Western Länder, without Berlin	23.6	94.4
	Eastern Länder, including Berlin	46.8	96.0
	Germany, total	28.2	94.7
2022	Western Länder, without Berlin	25.8	90.8
	Eastern Länder, including Berlin	49.4	93.3
	Germany, total	29.9	91.3

Source: Bock-Famulla et al. 2023

In 2022, more than one third of children from age 3 up to school entry (39%) spent between 25 to 35 hours weekly in centre-based ECEC provision, slightly more than half (52.5%) spent more than 35 hours and 8.5% less than 25 hours. In the same year, 11.2% of under 3 year-olds spent less than 25 hours, 33% between 25 and 35 hours and 55.8% more than 35 hours per week in an ECEC setting (Destatis 2023a). Across both age groups, most children (38%) attended an ECEC setting for 25 to 35 hours per week in 2023, 30% spent more than 45 hours there and just under 16% attended for less than 25 hours (Destatis/Genesis 2023).

For both age groups, in 2021, the amount of time was markedly higher in the eastern federal states (including Berlin) than in the western part of the country: Of the children who spent over 45 hours in an ECEC centre, the respective proportions were 60% and 27% for the under 3 yearolds and 63% and 28% for children from age 3 up to school entry (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Following a data correction, the national statistics report that in 2023, a total of 856,600 children under age 3 (36.4%) and 2,821,126 children between age 3 and school entry (90.9%) were enrolled in ECEC centres (Destatis 2023c).

#### **Financing and costs for parents**

The ECEC system in Germany is mainly publicly funded (Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung 2018). Funding procedures are regulated by state-level legislation and vary considerably across the country. Primarily, the municipalities and the federal states are involved in financing ECEC; providers and parents also contribute to the costs. In addition, the federal government is increasingly financing special investment programmes.

In 2022, federal, state and local government spending on education totalled €176 billion. The planned expenditure for 2023 totals €181 billion or 4.6% of gross domestic product (Statista 2023). Public expenditure on (E)CEC in 2022 amounted to €43.5 billion, 6.4% more than in the previous year (Destatis 2023d).

Nationwide, the **municipalities** bore slightly more than half of the expenditure for ECEC in 2021 (51.1%) and the *Länder* 47.6% (Destatis 2022, 48f). However, there are considerable regional disparities in municipal budgets with regard to tax revenues from trade tax, which accounts for about half of the financial capital and is dependent on the presence of industry and economic fluctuations. In addition, further tax revenues are redistributed from the federal government and the *Länder* to the municipalities. This leads to regional differences in municipal budgets and thus also in the provision of ECEC (Scholz et al. 2019).

At the level of the *Länder*, significantly more funds have been made available for ECEC in recent years. Between 2010 and 2022, expenditure on ECEC more than tripled in three federal states and at least doubled in 13 *Länder* (Destatis 2022, 127). However, there are still considerable differences, not least in the expenditure per child expenditure. At the end of 2020, this varied between  $\xi$ 9,469 in Berlin and  $\xi$ 6.550 in Bayern (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

Although the **federal government** has a legally limited role with regard to ECEC financing, the factual importance of the *Bund* in this regard has increased in recent years. Since 2008, the *Länder* have been supported with grants via a "special fund for the expansion of childcare". These programmes provide financial incentives for specific reform initiatives of nationwide significance. After considerable investment in the expansion of places for under 3 year-olds, the federal government funded a comprehensive "Staffing Campaign: Recruiting Young Talent, Retaining Professionals" from 2019 to 2022 (Evaluation Report: Weltzien et al. 2022). From 2022 to 2024, the federal government is funding the implementation of the KiTa Quality Act in the *Länder* with approximately 4 billion euros (BMFSFJ 2023a).

**Parental contributions** vary considerably depending on the provider, municipality and federal state. The *Gute-KiTa-Gesetz* specified an obligatory income-related adjustment of parental contributions and extended the criteria for fee exemption. Municipalities have a statutory duty to provide advice on the possibility of applying for a fee exemption. Nevertheless, parental contributions vary greatly across Germany at the municipal level (Mühleib et al. 2021). Even in the case of settings offering the same service for the same age range of children and where parental income levels are similar, the costs for parents can sometimes differ by several hundred euros per month. In 2020, for example, the monthly parental contributions for a full-day place (more than 35 hours) for children under the age of 3 varied – with a wide range within the federal states – between an average of €0 (in Berlin, Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania and Rhineland-Palatinate) and €360 (North Rhine-Westphalia) or €335 (Baden-Württemberg) (Klinkhammer et al. 2022, 227).

With the extended fee exemption in the course of the amendment of the Child and Youth Welfare Act (§ 90 SGB VIII), significantly more families have become eligible for fee exemption. However, in August 2022, there were only three federal states with full exemption from fees: Hamburg, Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania and the city state of Berlin; in three *Länder* (Baden-Württemberg, Saarland and Saxony) there is no exemption at all and in the remaining ten *Länder*  there is a partial exemption linked to certain criteria (e.g. age of the child or length of attendance at the facility) or a subsidy system (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

In 2022, a couple with two children spent about 1% of net household income on childcare costs<sup>7</sup> (OECD.Stat 2023).

#### Staff to child ratios and group size

In Germany, it is not possible to calculate a specific staff to child ratio or current group size through the official child and youth welfare statistics. This is because the pedagogical work with children is not separated from other work tasks (e.g. planning, cooperation with parents). Instead, a staffing ratio can be calculated, which relates the contractually agreed weekly working hours of the educational staff to the contractually agreed weekly hours of childcare in a *Kita*.<sup>8</sup> In this respect, the differences between the federal states are considerable.

The staffing ratio calculation in ECEC settings is carried out at group level, i.e. only settings with a fixed group structure are taken in account.

In 2021, one staff member in Germany was responsible for an average of 3.9 children under 3 years of age, but there are marked differences between the federal states, ranging from 2.9 children per qualified staff member in Baden-Württemberg to 5.8 children in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania.

There were similar differences for children between 3 years and school entry: overall, a staffing ratio of 1:8.4 applied here, ranging from 6.5 children per specialist in Baden-Württemberg to 12.9 children in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania. In mixed-age groups from 0 years onwards, the national average staffing ratio was 1:6.3 (from 1:5.2 in Baden-Württemberg to 1:10.5 in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania). Overall, the staffing ratio in the eastern *Länder* is less favourable than in the western *Länder* (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

	1 qualified staff member for children		
	0 to under 3 years	3 years to school entry	Mixed-age groups
Western Länder	3.3	7.8	5.9
Eastern <i>Länder (</i> including Berlin)	5.3	10.7	8.3
Total average	3.9	8.4	6.3

Germany: Average staffing ratio by region and age of children. 2021

#### Table 4

Quelle: Bock-Famulla et al. 2023

## **Curricular frameworks**

Traditionally, unlike the situation during the German Democratic Republic (GDR) era, there were no official curricular frameworks for the pedagogical work in ECEC settings in former West Germany. This was primarily a matter for the providers, even if guiding principles were set out in the few *Länder* with specific kindergarten legislation. However, after the so-called "PISA shock"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The calculation is based on: full-time working parents (average wage); two children aged 2 and 3 years in full-time childcare; childcare benefits included.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The calculation of staffing ratios in ECEC settings is based on a standardised calculation of full-time equivalents of the children enrolled (full-time care equivalent) and the pedagogical staff in the setting (full-time employment equivalent) for the different types of groups (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

in 2001, when Germany performed worse than expected in the OECD tests for 15 year-olds, the urgency of "laying firm foundations" through early childhood education became a hot topic across the country. Gradually, from 2004 onwards, the first early education frameworks were introduced. In the meantime, these have been revised at least once in most of the *Länder*.

These 16 curricular frameworks see children as agents of their own learning – in a co-constructive process with adults and other children. They are not prescriptive catalogues of learning goals, but rather descriptive accounts of varying aspects of pedagogy, based on research literature. They differ in length and the degree of obligation. Most *Länder* regard these framework plans as a guiding orientation for ECEC centres. In Bavaria, Brandenburg, Saxony and Thuringia, ECEC settings are obliged by law to integrate the main principles into their centre-specific programmes. The implementation of the principles and goals is the responsibility of the respective provider. All curricular frameworks specifically cover the age group up to school entry; in some *Länder* they also include guidelines for out-of-school education and care for children up to age 10 (Berlin, Brandenburg, Bremen, Hesse, Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, North Rhine-Westphalia, Saxony, Saxony-Anhalt), in Thuringia even up to age 18 (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023; Deutscher Bildungsserver 2023; see *Appendix 1* for links to the individual curricular frameworks – in German).

Meanwhile, all curricular frameworks contain areas on language, mathematics or science education; more than half also on health, music, movement and sport, technology, body, religion and values, media, environment, as well as art/presentation and design. Nevertheless, there is still a lack of comprehensive data on how the theoretical educational concepts are implemented and evaluated in the everyday life of ECEC settings (Autor:innengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung 2022, 98).

In addition to these state-level curricular documents, the 16 Ministers of Education and Cultural Affairs and the 16 Ministers of Youth Affairs also agreed in 2004 on a *Common Framework for Early Education in ECEC centres*, which was updated in 2022 (JMK 2004; KMK 2022). The basic principles of this non-binding common framework include a holistic approach to learning, the participation of children in decision-making processes, intercultural pedagogy, gender-sensitive practices, and targeted support for children with developmental risks or impending disabilities as well as for highly gifted children. Areas of learning include language, literacy and communication; personal and social development; values education/religious education; mathematics, natural sciences, technology; music education and media; physical development, movement, health; nature and culture. These areas of learning are to be embedded in an integrated and holistically organised approach in the ECEC setting. In addition, special emphasis is placed on the transition between kindergarten and primary school. In this respect, a significant challenge for the future is to strengthen cooperation at all levels: the steering level, the local and institutional level and the curricular level.

#### **Digital education**

Although digital media are omnipresent in children's lives from a very early age, the way they are handled both in families and in ECEC settings varies considerably. Experts and pedagogical staff see aspects of digital media that on the one hand promote education (cf. Blossfeld et al. 2018; Knauf 2018; Reichert-Garschhammer 2018) and on the other hand impair child development (Fröhlich-Gildhoff and Fröhlich-Gildhoff 2018). Overall, the acceptance of digital media in ECEC environments is still rather hesitant from the perspectives of all stakeholders involved, i.e. providers, educational professionals and also parents (cf. Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung 2020).

Digital media have become established in most ECEC settings as a support and facilitator for organisational tasks or for communication within the team and with parents - as the Corona pandemic in particular has shown. However, it is still rather uncommon for them to be available as a tool for children in the same way as pens and paper are. No one is born a "digital native". However, it is still not widely acknowledged that children have to learn how to use digital media, and ECEC centres face the challenge of finding an appropriate approach towards supporting children's digital competence.

In the curricular frameworks of the 16 *Länder* (see *Appendix 1* for links in German), the terms "digital education" or "digital media" have been included in very different ways (see, e.g., Lienau and van Roessel 2019). Only four of the 16 curricular documents explicitly refer to "digital media" or "digital education" in a separate section. In all others, there are only general references to "media" – either unspecifically or only mentioning analogue media. Mostly they are subsumed under another section, such as "language" or "communication". A definition of media literacy and a differentiation of objectives of media education are provided by ten of the curricular frameworks. While some highlight the dangers and disadvantages of "excessive media use", others emphasise the constructive coexistence of analogue and digital experiences... they must become the subject of pedagogical work..." (Bildungsplan Saarland 2018, 84). Twelve of the 16 *Länder* emphasise the importance of an age-appropriate or critical accompaniment of the children's media experiences by the professionals.

In order to strengthen the presence of "digital education" in the early childhood field on the basis of knowledge and experience, a pilot project was carried out in Bavaria from 2018 to 2020, aiming to sensitise ECEC settings to it and to support the professionals in developing the necessary knowledge and skills. Commissioned by the Bavarian Ministry of Social Affairs (StMAS), the State Institute for Early Childhood Research and Media Literacy (IFP) was responsible for the conceptual framework and implementation. In terms of the number of participating ECEC centres (100) and "media coaches", it was the most extensive pilot project in Germany to date<sup>9</sup>. Following the successful completion of this pilot project, its findings are now being implemented state-wide. Starting in September 2021, ECEC settings in Bavaria (in the second year of the campaign 308) will be supported professionally through a multi-year qualification programme "Kampagne Startchance digital" in the use of media with children and the involvement of parents (IFP 2024).<sup>10</sup>

#### **Monitoring – evaluation**

One of the main goals of the Good Childcare Act 2019 was to improve quality and participation in ECEC settings nationwide. Improved monitoring (BMFSFJ 2020b) and improved evaluation were further goals. From ten fields of action, the 16 *Länder* selected the issues that were particularly relevant for the development of quality in their federal state. Two comprehensive evaluation studies also examined the impact of the Good Childcare Act itself (BMFSFJ 2021).

Under the new KiTa Quality Act (2023), the *Länder* receive funds from the allocated 4 billion euros until the end of 2024, provided that at least 50% of the funds flow into the new seven

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> More information (in German) about this project can be found under the following link: https://www.kita-digital-bayern.de/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> More information (in German) about the implementation can be found under the following link: https://www.ifp.bayern.de/projekte/qualitaet/startchancekitadigital.php

priority fields of action (see footnote 3). New measures from 2023 onwards may only be implemented in these fields of action. The *Länder* determine the specific measures together with the federal government (BMFSFJ 2023a).

#### Child-related assessment

The starting point for an increase in documentation and assessment of children's performance and progress in Germany is, on the one hand, concern about early language development in general and, on the other hand, about the language acquisition of children with a family language other than German. To assess the developmental progress of children in ECEC settings, observations, tests or portfolios are among the tools used. In some *Länder*, mandatory language assessments and, if necessary, support measures are laid down by law. In Bavaria, for example, the use of an assessment tool called Seldak ("Sprachentwicklung und Literacy bei deutschsprachig aufwachsenden Kindern" - Language Development and Literacy in German-speaking Children) is obligatory for 4 to 5 year-olds (IFP 2016).

#### Centre-based self-evaluation

Self-evaluation procedures include, for example, assessing the general quality of the setting, how the centre team cooperates, liaising with parents, or the implementation of the centre programme based on the state curricular framework. There are no recommendations regarding the frequency of evaluations. The respective ECEC provider decides whether to publish the results or not.

The city state of Berlin was the first of the 16 *Länder* to introduce steps regarding monitoring related to the Berlin curricular framework, in which evaluation is prescribed. An agreement with the providers, linked to the funding of the ECEC settings, requires a number of self-evaluations and (every five years) an external evaluation. The Berlin Kita Institute for Quality Development (BEKI 2022) is responsible for monitoring and evaluations, the results of which contribute to ongoing developments and improvements in early education. The providers finance the evaluation, are informed about the results and measures and have to adapt their professional development programmes accordingly.

#### External evaluation

There is no national inspection system in Germany. External monitoring is carried out at the regional and municipal level. Since 2008, the Bertelsmann Foundation has conducted an independent and detailed annual review of the most important structural features of the early childhood education system in Germany, focusing on quality-related aspects. Sources are mainly federal statistics and federal state reports (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023).

In general, control measures to check compliance with state regulations are low key and based mainly on agreements with the provider organisations. The frequency of external evaluations or the submission of written reports is rarely prescribed. The main responsibility for the quality of monitoring lies with the providers, who have developed their own systems of quality management and pedagogical guidance. At the municipal-regional levels there are also some guidelines for both external and self-evaluation procedures.

#### **Inclusion agenda**

#### Children with special educational needs and disabilities

The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (2006), which was ratified in Germany in 2009, reignited the discussion on inclusive education at the political level.

"Children with and without disabilities should be able to learn together in one group, as far as the specific need for individual support allows" (SGB VIII 2012) – this is laid down in federal legislation. In doing so, providers have a duty to ensure that the staff in ECEC settings work together with families, community organisations and schools. The federal states have their own guidelines and/or legislation for implementation.

The inclusion in mainstream settings of children with special educational needs, developmental risks and (pending) disabilities has developed steadily since the 1970s. In all 16 federal states, the care of children with special educational needs and disabilities is regulated by law, either in ECEC legislation or under social law. In order to expand and strengthen inclusion and accessibility, corresponding laws (e.g. Disability Equality Act, General Equality Act, Accessibility Strengthening Act, Participation Strengthening Act) are to be further developed in the new coalition agreement of the government (BMAS 2021).

In 2022, 39.4% of all *Kitas* (23,374 out of 59,323) operated according to an inclusive approach while the number of special facilities for children with special needs decreased from 691 in 1998 to 229 in 2022 (Destatis 2023a). In 2022, 40.3% of ECEC centres care for at least one child who receives "inclusion support" (Bock-Famulla et al. 2023). 2.4% of children in (E)CEC settings were recipients of inclusion support in 2022: only 0.5% in the under-three age group and 3.2% in the group of over 3 year-olds (FKB 2023, 161).

Various projects initiated by ECEC providers also deal with the topic of inclusion in *Kitas*, e.g.: In Baden-Württemberg, the Protestant Regional Association carried out the project "Shaping participation – avoiding disadvantage – *Kitas* develop an inclusion-oriented practice" in 24 *Kitas* from 2016 to 2019 as part of the action plan "Living inclusion". These were to be supported by professional supervision in the sustainable anchoring of an inclusion-oriented practice (Evangelischer Landesverband 2016).

In a pilot project of the city of Munich and Upper Bavaria, four ECEC centres in the city committed to offering at least five places for children with special needs in 2020/21. These centres were accompanied by specialists in inclusion issues and were also additionally staffed. Following the evaluation of the project, the model is to be transferred to other ECEC settings in Upper Bavaria (City of Munich 2021).

#### Children with a migration background – children from Roma communities

Pedagogical approaches in early childhood education are increasingly being framed in a paradigm that emphasises inclusion and the recognition of diversity of all kinds. This includes children with a migration background (defined as "at least one parent is of foreign origin").

In 2022, a total of 13.1% people with non-German nationality lived in Germany. Of these, 41.5% came from other EU27 countries. In the under-5 age group, these proportions were 14.1% and 34.7% respectively (Eurostat 2023c, own calculations).

Of the children under 3 years of age attending an ECEC centre in 2022, 22.8% had a migration background; in the group of children over 3 years of age 31.2%, i.e. almost one third. German is the language mostly spoken at home in 37.8% and 31.8% of these families respectively (Destatis 2023a, own calculations).

Since the beginning of the war in February 2022, 1,099,905 refugees from **Ukraine** have sought protection in Germany (as of 30.09.2023). Of the 347,000 children and young people, 38% are

of primary school age (Mediendienst Integration 2023). According to the second survey of the study "*Refugees from Ukraine in Germany (IAB-BiB/FReDA-BAMF-SOEP Survey*)" at the beginning of 2023, about every second child up to 6 years of age attended an ECEC centre, with large differences depending on the age of the children: While only 7% of 1 year-olds and 16% of 2 year-olds are enrolled in a centre, the proportion of 6 year-olds is 72%. The proportion of children attending a Kita is also higher in the eastern federal states (66%) than in the western states (46%). The results of the survey indicate that attendance at an ECEC centre is more frequent when one parent is employed or taking part in a language course (DIW 2023). The legal entitlement to a place in ECEC from the age of 1 also applies to refugee children. Upon application, the Youth Welfare Office pays the childcare costs for refugees (BMFSFJ 2023b).

A study by the DIW (Gambaro et al. 2019) examined the effects of children's attendance at ECEC centres on the integration of their parents on the basis of surveys<sup>11</sup> of refugees (N = 5,859, 2016 and 2017). It was found that especially mothers of children attending an ECEC centre were significantly better integrated, had higher language skills and a stronger labour market orientation. Therefore, care should be taken to ensure that the children of families who have fled to Germany are given the opportunity to attend an ECEC setting as early as possible.

A current project "Kitas and Ukrainian mothers with Kita children" is conducting an online survey of (a) 500 mothers each with questions on, among other things, the well-being and life of the mothers and their children in Germany, and (b) an online survey of Kita managers on the children enrolled (DJI 2023).

Reliable statistics on the number of **Roma** living in Germany are not available, as statistical data on ethnicity are not collected. Estimates range from 70,000 according to the Central Council of German Sinti and Roma (Frietsch 2018) to 120,000 (Statista 2010).

At the EU level, seven targets have been set for national Roma inclusion strategies for the period up to 2030, based on evidence from surveys of Roma communities, covering equality, inclusion, participation, education, employment, housing and health. With regard to early childhood education, the main aim is to improve access for Roma children (European Commission 2021). A measure for the integration and participation of Sinti and Roma in Germany within the framework of the ESF federal programme "Elternchance II" (Parental Opportunity II) also relates to improved access to early childhood education by strengthening cooperation with parents. To this end, persons, some of whom also belonged to the Roma, were trained as parent guides (BMI 2019).

#### Parental leave arrangements<sup>12</sup>

Fully paid **Maternity leave** (*Mutterschutz*) begins six weeks before the birth and lasts until eight weeks afterwards. These eight weeks are compulsory for all mothers. During that time 100% of the income is paid, with no upper limit.

There is no legal provision for **Paternity leave** (*Vaterschaftsurlaub*). However, fathers can take two months of exclusive parental leave. An entitlement to Paternity leave is being prepared for 2024.

**Parental leave** (*Elternzeit*) is regulated by the Federal Parental Leave and Parental Benefits Act (*Bundeselternzeit- und Elterngeldgesetz*, BEEG) and can be taken by both parents as an individual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> These surveys contained data from the Socio-Economic Panel (SOEP), the Institute for Employment Research (IAB) and the Federal Office for Migration and Refugees (BAMF).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The brief summary in this section is based on the country note for Germany by Pia Schober and colleagues in the *International Review of Leave Policies and Research 2023* (see *References*).

entitlement for three years up to the child's 3rd birthday. 24 months of this can also be taken up to the child's 8th birthday.

Parents who take Parental leave on a full-time or part-time basis can choose between two allowance options or combine them: (a) Basic parental allowance (*Basiselterngeld*) and (b) Parental allowance plus (*ElterngeldPlus*).

Basic parental allowance: The income-related Basic parental allowance is paid for twelve months - for 14 months if both partners take parental leave for two months (partner months). A minimum of €300 per month is paid, a maximum of €1,800. Parents with a previous net monthly income between €1,000 and €1,240 receive 67%, above €1,240 the share is 65%, below €1,000 they receive a higher share. Parents can work part-time for up to 32 hours per week.

*ElterngeldPlus* is paid for 24 (+four) months in the first two years of the child's life as partial compensation for the salary lost through part-time work. Up to four additional months (part-nership bonus) are paid if both parents work part-time between 25 and 30 hours per week for up to four consecutive months. As with the Basic parental allowance, 65% or 67% is paid, depending on income - but only for the difference from the previous income. Both parents can take Parental leave at the same time and divide it into up to three blocks.

In Bavaria and Saxony, an income-related so-called state child-raising allowance of €150 to €300 per month and child is paid.

The main aim of the 2007 Parental allowance reform was to increase the proportion of fathers taking Parental leave. Overall, 38.7% of eligible women and 16.1% of men chose the *Eltern-geldPlus* option in 2022. An average of 26.1% of eligible fathers made use of parental allowances. The average duration of Parental allowance receipt for mothers remained at 14.6 months; for fathers, this period was significantly shorter at 3.6 months and even decreased somewhat in recent years. However, there are significant regional differences with regard to the proportion of fathers: While 30.2% of eligible fathers received parental benefits in Saxony in 2022, in Saarland the relevant share was only 20.8% (Destatis 2023b).

#### **Current challenges for the ECEC system in Germany**

#### Country expert assessment by Sigrid Lorenz

In public discourse, the high systemic relevance of early childhood education, care and upbringing within the complex and federally organised German society of today is undisputed. This has not only been the case since the experience of nationwide closures of (E)CEC centres and schools to contain the coronavirus pandemic, although this once again sharpened the focus on specific professions and people (cf. Kaldewey 2022). The urgent question of current and medium-term challenges facing the (E)CEC system must be answered in particular against the backdrop of current social and lifeworld characteristics and developments. These are often described as uncertain, complex, ambiguous, diverse and dynamic and are essentially generated by the effects of globalisation, digitalisation and climate change (cf. OECD 2019; Fritz 2020).

Accordingly, two fundamental challenges need to be highlighted for the early childhood education system: On the one hand, the system itself has a responsibility to develop even more strongly into a dynamic, flexible system in order to be able to respond adaptively to these social developments, as well as providing its own impetus. On the other hand, it is linked to the concrete task of early education in the present to prepare all (!) children for a world described in this way with as many opportunities as possible, on the basis of corresponding pedagogical concepts. With regard to the in-depth structure, this results in multiple developmental tasks for early education; three tasks are discussed below with subjective preference.

#### Challenge 1: High quality early education must remain in focus.

Currently, scarce financial and human resources dominate the situation and discussion of institutional ECEC in Germany. The associated focus on ensuring the care of children tends to marginalise qualitative aspects of early childhood education and upbringing, aspects of education that have been fought over for decades and which are enshrined in law and in the state-specific regulations. It is necessary to focus more strongly on this quality again in the future, because "the most important factor in a child's development that can be influenced by society is education" (Fritz 2020, 8; Rauschenbach und Meiner-Teubner 2019).

#### Challenge 2: Educational content must be conceptualised as future-oriented.

Early childhood education needs to follow a positive narrative and in this respect be understood as a formative, not a preventative pedagogy (Durand and Birnbacher 2021). This is linked to the challenge of ensuring the development of children's individual potential and enabling them to participate and shape their lives in a committed and responsible manner under the conditions of a dynamic, complex future (as outlined). For this reason, particular emphasis should be placed on exploring which forward-looking educational topics should be included in early education concepts.

In addition to cross-cutting problem-solving skills, such as collaboration, communication, creativity and critical thinking (OECD 2019/2020), which support children in finding their own (knowledge) path even in the face of uncertainty, the areas of "digital education", "education for sustainable development and climate protection (ESD)" and "democratic education" should be given special visibility in the curricular frameworks of all federal states in the future. "Digital education" is an indispensable key competence in a digitally permeated world; "ESD" supports children in thinking and acting sustainably and is therefore important for the future and for survival; "democratic education", understood as making it possible to experience and practice a democratic set of values and a values-based way of life, is of enormous importance for the continued existence of a democratic way of life in view of increasing anti-democratic tendencies. (cf., for example, SWK 2022; Schipprack 2021; Wunderlich et al. 2023; Deutscher Bundestag 2020).

#### Challenge 3: Educational disparities must be reduced and effective action plans developed.

Despite the constitutionally guaranteed right to equal education for all, the educational biographies of children and young people in Germany are still unequal in terms of opportunities and strongly linked to social background and parental education. Counteracting this and organising education in such a way that all children can develop according to their skills and interests continues to pose major challenges for the education system (Bertram 2021).

Even if there are clear limits to the compensatory influence of institutional early childhood education (Rauschenbach und Meiner-Teubner 2019), ECEC needs to (be able to) make an even greater contribution to reducing disparities in the future. This includes reducing existing barriers to access, as enrolment in ECEC varies according to the economic resources of families. To this end, a solid framework, relevant concepts and specialist knowledge must be promoted, as many professionals are still uncertain about how to deal with heterogeneity and the associated support for children from disadvantaged families (Spensberger und Taube 2022).

Overcoming these and other challenges requires a well-equipped and competent education system in order to avoid "implementation dilemmas" (cf. Viernickel und Weltzien 2023). It also requires an intensification of vertical and horizontal coordination between the federal government, federal states and local authorities (including other groups), as regional and supra-regional differences in quality can still be observed (BMFSFJ 2023c). In order to reduce such fluctuations and ensure good educational and participation opportunities for children regardless of location, legally defined, cross-state minimum quality standards accompanied by monitoring and evaluation are likely to be an adequate control instrument. One example of such a crossstate agreement is the "Common Framework of the *Länder* for Early Education in ECEC Centres" (JMK/KMK 2004; KMK 2022); it should be actively promoted in the future, as the first years of early childhood development are crucial.

## **Demographic data**

**Please note:** For reasons of comparability, data on children are always reported up to 6 years of age, even if compulsory schooling starts earlier or later in some countries.

#### **Total population**

In 2022, the total population in Germany was 83,237,124.

Between 1995 (81,538,603) and 2005 (82,500,849) there was a slight rise in the overall population. After a peak of 81,802,257 in 2010, numbers since then have decreased slightly (2015: 81,197,537; 2020: 83,166,711) (Eurostat 2023a).

#### **Total fertility rate**

In 2021, the average total birth rate in the EU27 (as of 2020) was 1.53. The highest total birth rate of the 33 SEEPRO-3 countries was in France (1.84), the lowest in Malta (1.13). At 1.58, Germany is close to the EU27-average (Eurostat 2023b).<sup>13</sup>

#### Children under age 6

In 2022, 2.8% of the total population were children under 3 years of age, and 5.8% were children under age 6. For the first time, these relative shares are slightly above the respective EU-average (see *Table 5*, Eurostat 2023a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Data for **Ukraine** and the **UK** (2021) are from Statista (https://www.statista.com/statistics/296567/fertility-rate-in-ukraine/ and https://www.statista.com/statistics/284042/fertility-rate-in-the-united-kingdomuk/). Data for the **Russian Federation** (2021) are from WorldBankData (https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.TFRT.IN?locations=RU).

## Table 5Germany: Children under 6 years of age, 2022

Age	Number of children
Under age 1	791,254
1 year-olds	780,795
2 year-olds	789,145
3 year-olds	803,334
4 year-olds	810,805
5 year-olds	816,142
0 to 6 year-olds total	4,791,475

Source: Eurostat 2023a

#### Table 6

Germany: Children under 6 years of age – share in total population compared with EU averages, 2000-2022, in  $\%^*$ 

Year	Comparison Germany/EU	Under 3 year-olds	3 to under 6 year-olds	0 to under 6 year-olds
	Germany	2.9	2.9	5.8
2000	Ø EU15 <sup>14</sup>	3,2	3,2	6,4
2005	Germany	2.6	2.8	5.4
	Ø EU25	3.1	3.1	6.2
2015	Germany	2.6	2.5	5.1
2015	Ø EU28	3.0	3.2	6.2
2022	Germany	2.8	2.9	5.8
	Ø EU27	2.7	2.9	5.7

Source: Eurostat 2023a, \*own calculations

## Single households with children under age 6

The majority of households with children under 6 years of age were couple households in 2022. Households with single parents accounted for only 4.4% - as a rule, these are single mothers, the share of single fathers is very low at 0.4%.

#### Table 7

Germany: Households with children under age 6 in Germany, 2022

Household type	Total households	Share of total households, in %*
Single and couple households	7,136,200	
Couple households	6,078,900	85.2
Other household type	714,600	10.0
Single households, total	342,700	4.8
Single households, women	313,700	4.4
Single households, men	29,000	0.4

Source: Eurostat 2023h, \*Own calculations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The data for 2000 include the EU15-Länder at that time (AT, BE, DK, DE, IE, EL, ES, F, FI, IT, LU, NL, PT, SE, UK). The 2005 data (EU25) include CY, CZ, EE, HU, LV, LT, MT, PL, SI, SK. Data for 2015 include the additional EU28 countries BG, RO und HR. Data for EU27 (from 2020) comprise the countries of the EU28 without the UK.

### Employment rates of parents with children under 6 years of age

In Germany, in 2022, the employment rate (15–64 years) of men as a whole was 83.7%, that of women 75.6% (Eurostat 2023g).

In 2022, 65.8% of women and 90.4% of men with children under 6 were in employment (18–64 years). The shares of fathers in employment were thus above the average (87.2%) of the 27(2020) EU countries, as were those of mothers (EU average 63.6%) (Eurostat 2023d).

#### Table 8a

## Germany: Employment rates of parents with children under age 6 compared with other EU countries, 2010 and 2022

	201	0
	Mothers, in %	Fathers, in %
Germany	54.6	90.4
Highest employment rate in the EU27 <sup>15</sup>	Denmark: 82.7	Netherlands: 93.4
Lowest employment rate in the EU27	Hungary: 31.7	Latvia: 72.7
	202	2
	Mothers, in %	Fathers, in %
Germany	65.8	90.4
Highest employment rate in the EU27(2020)	Luxembourg: 81.9	Sweden: 95.1
Lowest employment rate in the EU27(2020)	Czech Republic: 42.5	Romania: 78.5

Source: Eurostat 2023d

For the SEEPRO-3 countries that were not part of the EU27(2020) in 2021/2022, data are displayed in *Table 8b*.

#### Table 8b

#### Employment rates in non-EU SEEPRO-3 countries, 2021/2022/2023

Countries	Parents with children under 6 years		Overall employment rate	
Countries	Mothers in %	Fathers in %	Women in %	Men in %
*Norway (2022)	82.9	94.3	75.4	80.1
***Russia (2021/2022)	67.1 (2021)	k.A.	55.6 (2022)	70.4 (2022)
*Serbia (2022)	64.4	78.3	57.9	71.0
**Switzerland (2022/2023)	46.9	95.3	60.0 61.1 (2023)	83.5 84.2 (2023
<sup>+</sup> Ukraine (2021)	n.d.	n.d.	60.7	69.9
***United Kingdom (2021/2023) with dependent children with children under 2 years with children 3–4 years	75.6 72.4 70.7	92.1 93.1 95.0	<sup>++</sup> 72.3 <sup>++</sup> 72.1 (2023)	<sup>++</sup> 79.2 <sup>++</sup> 79.4 (2023)

\*Eurostat 2023d, 2023g

\*\*[BFS] Bundesamt für Statistik. 2023. Erwerbsquoten in Vollzeitäquivalenten nach Geschlecht, Nationalität, Altersgruppen, Familientyp [Full-time equivalent employment rates by gender, nationality, age groups, family type]. https://www.bfs.admin.ch/asset/de/je-d-03.02.00.01.03

\*\*\*Rosstat. 2022. *Statistical annex SDG in Russia 2022.* https://eng.rosstat.gov.ru/sdg/report/document/70355;

<sup>15</sup> 

BRICS. 2023. Joint Statistical Publication 2023. https://brics2023.gov.za/wp-content/up-loads/2023/12/BRICS-2023-JSP\_Final\_Web.pdf

- <sup>+</sup>[SSSU] State Statistics Service of Ukraine. 2022. *Employed population in 2021, by age group, sex and place of residence*. https://ukrstat.gov.ua/operativ/operativ2017/rp/eans/eanse/Archznsmve.htm
- <sup>++</sup>Statista. 2023. *Employment rate in the United Kingdom from June 1971 to January 2023, by gender.* https://www.statista.com/statistics/280120/employment-rate-in-the-uk-by-gender/
- \*\*\*Office for National Statistics. 2023. Families and the labour market, UK: 2021. https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/familiesandthelabourmarketengland/2021

#### Children at risk of poverty or social exclusion<sup>16</sup>

In 2022, 24.3% of children under 6 were at risk of poverty or social exclusion. This proportion was slightly above the EU27 average (23.3%) for this age group. The share of all persons at risk of poverty or social exclusion in the total population was 20.9% (EU27: 21.6%). In 2020, 2.6% of children under 6 and 1.2% of the total population suffer from severe material deprivation (EU average 6.1% and 4.3% respectively) (Eurostat 2023e, f).

## References

- Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung. 2018. Bildung in Deutschland 2018. Ein indikatorengestützter Bericht mit einer Analyse zu Wirkungen und Erträgen von Bildung [Education in Germany 2018. An indicator-based report with an analysis of the effects and returns of education]. https://www.bildungsbericht.de/de/bildungsberichte-seit-2006/bildungsbericht-2018/
- Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung. 2020. *Bildung in Deutschland 2020. Ein indikatorengestützter Bericht mit einer Analyse zu Bildung in einer digitalisierten Welt* [Education in Germany 2020. An indicator-based report with an analysis of education in a digitalised world]. https://www.bildungsbericht.de/de/bildungsberichte-seit-2006/bildungsbericht-2020
- Autor:innengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung. 2022. *Bildung in Deutschland 2022. Ein indikatorenge-stützter Bericht mit einer Analyse zum Bildungspersonal* [Education in Germany 2020. An indicator-based report with an analysis of the education workforce]. https://www.bildungsbericht.de/de/bildungsberichte-seit-2006/bildungsbericht-2022/pdf-dateien-2022/bildungsbericht-2022.pdf
- [BEKI] Berliner Kita-Institut für Qualitätsentwicklung. 2022. *Kita-Qualität gemeinsam entwickeln* [Developing ECEC quality together]. http://www.beki-qualitaet.de/
- Bertram, H. 2021. *Kinder unsere Zukunft! Der UNICEF-Bericht zur Lage der Kinder in Deutschland 2021* [Children - our future! The UNICEF report on the situation of children in Germany 2021]. Köln: Deutsches Komitee für UNICEF
- Blossfeld, H.-P., W. Bos, H.-D. Daniel, B. Hannover, O. Köller, D. Lenzen und L. Wößmann. 2018. Digitale Souveränität und Bildung: Gutachten des Aktionsrats Bildung [Digital Sovereignty and Education: Expert Report of the Education Action Council]. Münster: Waxmann.
- [BMAS] Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs. 2021. Aufbruch für mehr Barrierefreiheit – neue Koalition setzt Maßstäbe [A fresh start for more accessibility - new coalition sets standards]. https://www.bmas.de/DE/Service/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2021/aufbruch-fuer-mehr-barrierefreiheit-neue-koalition-setzt-massstaebe.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 'At risk of poverty or social exclusion' refers to the situation of people either at risk of poverty (threshold set at 60% of the national median equivalised disposable income after social transfers), or (severely) materially deprived or living in a household with a very low work intensity. (https://ec.europa.eu/euro-stat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Glossary:Material\_deprivation)

- [BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2010. *Kindertagespflege – eine neue berufliche Perspektive* [Home-based childcare - a new professional perspective]. https://www.bmfsfj.de/resource/blob/94152/f1e690bfc8f6930a7952939d9051a979/kindertagespflege-neue-berufliche-perspektive-data.pdf
- [BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2013. Vierter Zwischenbericht zur Evaluation des Kinderförderungsgesetzes. [Fourth interim report on the evaluation of the Childcare Funding Act]. Berlin: BMFSFJ. https://www.bmfsfj.de/re-

source/blob/94102/ce427c07a46e6c4d5ba077b830f136e2/kifoeg-vierter-zwischenbericht-zur-evaluation-des-kinderfoerderungsgesetzes-data.pdf

- [BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2018. Gesetz zur Förderung von Kindern unter drei Jahren in Tageseinrichtungen und in Kindertagespflege (Kinderförderungsgesetz) [Act on the funding of centre- and home-based ECEC settings for children under the age of three (Childcare Funding Act)]. https://www.bmfsfj.de/bmfsfj/aktuelles/alle-meldungen/gesetz-zur-foerderungsgesetz--86390
- [BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2020a. *Kinder und Jugendhilfe. Achtes Buch Sozialgesetzbuch* [Support services for children and young people. Eighth Book of the Social Code]. https://www.bmfsfj.de/resource/blob/94106/40b8c4734ba05dad4639ca34908ca367/kinder-und-jugendhilfegesetz-sgb-viii-data.pdf
- [BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2020b. Gute-Kita-Bericht 2020. Monitoringbericht für das Berichtsjahr 2019 [Good Childcare Report 2020. Monitoring report for the year 2019]. https://www.bmfsfj.de/resource/blob/163400/2f655e00a1a5bbf84ee558a67a4db4ad/gute-kitabericht-2020-data.pdf
- [BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2021. Bericht der Bundesregierung zur Evaluation des Gesetzes zur Weiterentwicklung der Qualität und zur Verbesserung der Teilhabe in Tageseinrichtungen und in der Kindertagespflege (KiQuTG) [Report of the Federal Government on the Evaluation of the Act on the further development of quality and the improvement of participation in centre-based and home-based ECEC settings (KiQuTG)]. https://www.bmfsfj.de/re-

source/blob/185910/39abf1c6fdb62f323d60444713633e4d/erster-evaluationsbericht-der-bundes-regierung-zum-gute-kita-gesetz-data.pdf

[BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend – Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2023a. Für gute Kinderbetreuung bundesweit: das KiTa-Qualitätsgesetz [For good childcare nationwide: the KiTa Quality Act]. https://www.bmfsfj.de/bmfsfj/themen/familie/kinderbetreuung/fuer-gute-kinderbetreuung-bundesweit-das-kita-qualitaetsgesetz-209046

- [BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2023b. Wegweiser: Kindertagesbetreuung in Deutschland [Guide: Childcare in Germany]. https://www.fruehe-chancen.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/PDF-Dateien/BMFSFJ\_Wegweiser\_Kindertagesbetreuung\_DE\_BF.pdf
- [BMFSFJ] Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth. 2023c. *Zweiter Bericht der Bundesregierung zur Evaluation des Gesetzes zur Weiterentwicklung der Qualität und zur Verbesserung der Teilhabe in Tageseinrichtungen und in der Kindertagespflege* (KiQuTG) [Second Report of the Federal Government on the evaluation of the Act on the further development of quality and the improvement of participation in centre-based and home-based ECEC settings (KiQuTG] https://www.bmfsfj.de/bmfsfj/service/publikationen/zweiter-bericht-der-bundesregierung-zur-evaluation-des-gesetzes-zur-weiterentwicklung-der-qualitaet-und-zur-verbesserung-der-teilhabe-in-tageseinrichtungen-und-in-der-kindertag-espflege-kiqutg--228534
- [BMI] Bundesministerium des Inneren, für Bau und Heimat Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community. 2019. Informationen von Deutschland über den Fortschritt bei der Umsetzung des Berichts "EU-Rahmen für nationale Strategien zur Integration der Roma bis 2020 – Integrierte Maßnahmenpakete zur Integration und Teilhabe der Sinti und Roma in Deutschland" – 2018-2019 [Information from Germany on the progress in the implementation of the report "EU Framework for National

Roma Integration Strategies until 2020 - Integrated set of measures for the integration and participation of Sinti and Roma in Germany" - 2018-2019]. https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/DE/veroeffentlichungen/themen/heimat-integration/minderheiten/umsetzung-2018-2019-strategie-integration-roma.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=1

- Bock-Famulla, K., A. Münchow, F. Sander, D. P. Akko und J. Schütz. 2023. Ländermonitor Frühkindliche Bildungssysteme [Länder Monitor Early Childhood Education Systems]. Gütersloh: Bertelsmann Stiftung. https://www.laendermonitor.de/de/report-profile-der-bundeslaender/uebersicht
- Bundesverband für Kindertagespflege. 2021. Was ist Kindertagespflege? [What is home-based ECEC provision?]. https://www.bvktp.de/
- City of Munich Landeshauptstadt München. 2021. *Modellprojekt "Inklusive Kita": Stadt und Bezirk kooperieren* [Pilot project "Inclusive *Kita*": City and district cooperate]. https://ru.muenchen.de/2020/216/Modellprojekt-Inklusive-Kita-Stadt-und-Bezirk-kooperieren-93477
- [Destatis] Statistisches Bundesamt. 2019. *Kinder und tätige Personen in Kindertageseinrichtungen und Kindertagespflege* [Children and staff working in ECEC and home-based settings]. https://www.sta-tistischebibliothek.de/mir/receive/DEHeft\_mods\_00096407
- [Destatis] Statistisches Bundesamt. 2022. *Bildungsfinanzbericht 2022* [Education Finance Report 2022]. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Bildung-Forschung-Kultur/Bildungsfinanzen-Ausbildungsfoerderung/Publikationen/Downloads-Bildungsfinanzen/bildungsfinanzbericht-1023206227004.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile
- [Destatis] Statistisches Bundesamt. 2023a. *Kinder und tätige Personen in Kindertageseinrichtungen und Kindertagespflege* [Children and staff working in ECEC and home-based settings]. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Soziales/Kindertagesbetreuung/Publikationen/\_publikationen-innen-kinder-taetige-personen.html
- [Destatis] Statistisches Bundesamt. 2023b. Elterngeld 2022: V\u00e4teranteil steigt weiter auf 26,1% [Parental allowance 2022: Fathers' share rises further to 26.1%]. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2023/03/PD23\_123\_22922.html
- [Destatis] Statistisches Bundesamt. 2023c. Pressemitteilungen. Korrektur: Betreuungsquote der unter Dreijährigen steigt zum 1. März 2023 auf 36,4% [Press releases. Correction: Attendance rate for under-threes rises to 36.4% as of 1 March 2023]. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Soziales/Kindertagesbetreuung/\_inhalt.html
- [Destatis] Statistisches Bundesamt. 2023d. Ausgaben für Kindertageseinrichtungen, Länder, Veränderungsrate [Expenditure on ECEC centres, federal states, rate of change]. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Soziales/Kinderhilfe-Jugendhilfe/Tabellen/ausgaben-kindertagesbetreuung-nach-laendern.html ).
- [Destatis/Genesis] Statistisches Bundesamt. 2023. *Genesis online Kinder und tätige Personen in Tageseinrichtungen* [Genesis online - Children and staff working in ECEC centres]. https://www-genesis.destatis.de/genesis/online?sequenz=statistikTabellen&selectionname=22541\*#abreadcrumb
- Deutscher Bildungsserver. 2023. Bildungspläne der Bundesländer für die frühe Bildung in Kindertageseinrichtungen [Federal state ECEC curricula]. https://www.bildungsserver.de/bildungsplaene-fuer-kitas-2027-de.html
- Deutscher Bundestag. 2020. Bericht über die Lage junger Menschen und die Bestrebungen und Leistungen der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe. 16. Kinder- und Jugendbericht. Förderung demokratischer Bildung im Kindes- und Jugendalter. Drucksache 19/24200 [Report on the situation of young people and the endeavours and services of child and youth welfare. 16th Children and Youth Report. Promotion of democratic education in childhood and adolescence. Printed matter 19/24200] https://www.bmfsfj.de/resource/blob/162232/27ac76c3f5ca10b0e914700ee54060b2/16-kinderund-jugendbericht-bundestagsdrucksache-data.pdf
- Diskowski, D. 2006. "Geteilte Verantwortung, Dezentralisierung und Subsidiarität als wichtige Merkmale der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe in Deutschland" [Shared responsibility, decentralisation and subsidiarity as key features of child and youth welfare in Germany]. In *Frühe Bildung und das System der Kindertagesbetreuung in Deutschland* [Early childhood education and care in Germany], herausgegeben von Pestalozzi-Fröbel-Verband, 23-27. Kiliansroda: Verlag das Netz.
- [DIW] Deutsches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung. 2023. Geflüchtete aus der Ukraine: Knapp die Hälfte beabsichtigt längerfristig in Deutschland zu bleiben [Refugees from Ukraine: almost half intend to stay in Germany for the long term]. https://www.diw.de/documents/publikationen/73/diw\_01.c.877242.de/23-28-1.pdf

- [DJI] Deutsches Jugendinstitut. 2023. *Kitas und ukrainische Mütter mit Kitakindern* [ECEC settings and Ukrainian mothers with children of kindergarten age]. https://www.dji.de/ueber-uns/projekte/pro-jekte/kitas-und-ukrainische-muetter-mit-kitakindern.html
- Durand, J. und L. Birnbacher. 2021. "Demokratiebildung in der Kita" [Democracy education in the ECEC centre]. In DJI-Impulse. Politische Bildung von Anfang an. Wie Kinder und Jugendliche Demokratie lernen und erfahren können. Nr. 125 1/2021, S. 14–18. https://www.dji.de/veroeffentlichungen/literatursuche/detailansicht/literatur/30287-dji-impulse-121-politische-bildung-von-anfang-an.html
- Ebert, S. 2006. *Erzieherin ein Beruf im Spannungsfeld von Gesellschaft und Politik* [Educator a profession at the crossroads of society and politics]. Freiburg, Basel, Wien: Herder.
- Ebert, S. 2021. "100 Jahre Reichsschulkonferenz 100 Jahre Reichsjugendwohlfahrtsgesetz." [100 years Reich Schools Conference – 100 years Reich Youth Welfare Act]. In *Reichsschulkonferenz 1920. Zuordnung des Kindergartens in das System der Fürsorge*, herausgegeben vom Pestalozzi-Fröbel-Verband, 40-50. Weimar: verlag das netz.
- Erning, G. 1987. "Quantitative Entwicklung der Angebote öffentlicher Kleinkinderziehung" [Quantitative development of public ECEC provision], In Geschichte des Kindergartens vol. II: Institutionelle Aspekte, systematische Perspektiven, Entwicklungsverläufe, edited by G. Erning, K. Neumann, and J. Reyer, 29-39. Freiburg: Lambertus.
- European Commission. 2021. Roma equality, inclusion and participation in the EU. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/DE/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:32021H0319(01)&from=EN
- Eurostat. 2023a. *Population on 1 January by age and sex*. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrow-ser/view/demo\_pjan/default/table
- Eurostat. 2023b. *Fertility rates by age*. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/DEMO\_FRATE\_custom\_1559524/default/table
- Eurostat. 2023c. *Population on 1 January by age group, sex and citizenship.* https://ec.europa.eu/euros-tat/databrowser/view/migr\_pop1ctz/default/table
- Eurostat. 2023d. Employment rate of adults by sex, age groups, educational attainment level, number of children and age of youngest child. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrow-ser/view/LFST\_HHEREDCH/default/table
- Eurostat. 2023e. *People at Risk of Poverty or Social Exclusion by Age and Sex*. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/ILC\_PEPS01N\$DV\_1161/default/table
- Eurostat. 2023f. Severe housing deprivation rate by age, sex and poverty status. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/ilc\_mdho06a/default/table
- Eurostat. 2023g. Employment and activity by sex and age annual data. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/LFSI\_EMP\_A\$DV\_881/default/table
- Eurostat. 2023h. Number of adults by sex, age groups, number of children, age of youngest child and household composition. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/LFST\_HHACE-DAY\_custom\_4495620/default/table
- Evangelischer Landesverband Tageseinrichtungen für Kinder in Württemberg e.V. 2016. Projekt InKLUsion: Teilhabe gestalten - Benachteiligung vermeiden. Kitas entwickeln eine inklusionsorientierte Praxis [InKLUsion project: Shaping participation – avoiding disadvantage. Kitas develop an inclusionoriented practices]. https://www.evlvkita.de/der-landesverband/projekte/
- Federal Office for Migration and Refugees Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge. 2023. Factsheet Daten & Fakten zu Kriegsflüchtlingen aus der Ukraine. [Factsheet - Facts & Figures on War Refugees from Ukraine]. https://www.bamf.de/SharedDocs/Anlagen/DE/AsylFluechtlingsschutz/factsheetukraine.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=6
- [FKB] Autorengruppe Fachkräftebarometer. 2023. Fachkräftebarometer Frühe Bildung 2023. Weiterbildungsinitiative Frühpädagogische Fachkräfte [The Early Education Staffing Barometer 2023. Professional development initiative for early education professionals]. https://www.wbv.de/shop/Fachkraeftebarometer-Fruehe-Bildung-2023-I76287
- Franke-Meyer, D. 2016. *"Geschichte der frühkindlichen Bildung in Deutschland"* [History of early childhood education in Germany], herausgegeben von der Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung. https://www.bpb.de/gesellschaft/bildung/zukunft-bildung/239356/fruehkindliche-bildung
- Franke-Meyer, D. 2024. 100 Jahre Reichsschulkonferenz: Ein historischer Blick auf die Debatten zum Kindergarten [100 years Reich Schools Conference: a historical look at the debates on kindergarten]. In *Kindergarten revisited. Weichenstellung Reichschulkonferenz 1920*, edited by A. König und D. Franke-Meyer, 12-22. Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.
- Frietsch, M. 2018. *Sinti und Roma in Deutschland* [Sinti and Roma in Germany]. https://www.planet-wissen.de/kultur/voelker/sinti\_und\_roma\_in\_deutschland/index.html#Heute

- Fröhlich-Gildhoff, K. und M. Fröhlich-Gildhoff. 2018. "Es geht nicht um Dramatisierung, sondern um ein Bedenken möglicher Risiken bei der Digital-Euphorie." [It's not about dramatisation, but a concern for possible risks in the digital euphoria]. In *Frühe Bildung*, 7: 116-118. https://doi.org/10.1026/2191-9186/a000375
- Fuchs-Rechlin, K. und B. Riedel. 2021. ",Kita-Träger ein Feld in Bewegung" [*Kita* providers a field on the move]. In *Forum Jugendhilfe*, 02/2021, 37-43.
- Gambaro, L., G. Neidhöfer und C. K. Spieß. 2019. "Kita-Besuch von Kindern aus nach Deutschland geflüchteten Familien verbessert Integration ihrer Mütter." [Enrolment in ECEC by children from families who have fled to Germany improves the integration of their mothers]. In *DIW Wochenbericht*, 44: 805-812.
- [ICEC] International Center Early Childhood Education and Care. 2023. *Bundesdeutsches Kita-System* [The German *Kita* system]. https://www.dji.de/ueber-uns/projekte/projekte/internationales-zentrum-fruehkindliche-bildung-betreuung-und-erziehung-icec/bundesdeutsches-kita-system.html
- [IFP] Staatsinstitut für Frühpädagogik. 2016. Seldak 2007. http://www.ifp.bayern.de/imperia/md/content/stmas/ifp/sprachberater\_seldak.pdf
- [IFP] Staatsinstitut für Frühpädagogik und Medienkompetenz. 2024. *Einblicke und Ergebnisse* [Insights and results]. https://www.kita-digital-bayern.de/kampagne/infobereich/kita/einblicke-und-ergebnisse/
- [JMK/KMK] Ständige Konferenz der Jugendminister- und Kultusminister der Länder in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland – Standing Conference of the Youth Affairs Ministers and Education Ministers of the Länder of the Federal Republic of Germany. 2004. Gemeinsamer Rahmen der Länder für die frühe Bildung in Kindertageseinrichtungen [Common framework of the federal states for early education in ECEC centres]. http://www.kmk.org/fileadmin/Dateien/veroeffentlichungen\_beschluesse/2004/2004\_06\_03-Fruehe-Bildung-Kindertageseinrichtungen.pdf
- Kaldewey, D. 2022. "Was bedeutet Systemrelevanz in Zeiten der Pandemie?" [What does systemic relevance mean in times of pandemic?] In: *Berliner Journal für Soziologie*, 32:7–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11609-022-00464-y
- Klinkhammer, N., D. D. Schacht, C. Meiner-Teubner, S. Kuger, B. Kalicki und B. Riedel (Hrsg.). 2022. ERiK-Forschungsbericht II. Befunde des indikatorengestützten Monitorings zum KiQuTG. Bielefeld: wbv Media.
- [KMK] Ständige Konferenz der Kultusminister der Länder in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland Standing Conference of the Education Ministers of the Länder of the Federal Republic of Germany. 2022. Gemeinsamer Rahmen der Länder für die frühe Bildung in Kindertageseinrichtungen [Common framework of the federal states for early education in ECEC centres]. Resolution of the JMK of 13/14 May 2004 and resolution of the KMK of 03/04 June 2004 in the version of 06 May 2021 (JFMK) and 24 March 2022 (KMK). https://www.kmk.org/fileadmin/veroeffentlichungen\_beschluesse/2004/2004\_06\_03-Fruehe-Bildung-Kindertageseinrichtungen.pdf
- Knauf, H. 2018. "Die Nutzung digitaler Medien in der Kita entdramatisieren." [De-dramatising the use of digital media in ECEC settings]. In Frühe Bildung, 7: 114-116. https://doi.org/10.1026/2191-9186/a000374
- Lienau, T. und L. van Roessel. 2019. Zur Verankerung von Medienerziehung in den Bildungsplänen für Kindertageseinrichtungen [Embedding media education in the ECEC curricular frameworks]. https://www.medienpaed.com/article/view/712/688
- Mediendienst Integration. 2023. *Flüchtlinge aus der Ukraine* [Refugees from Ukraine]. https://mediendienst-integration.de/migration/flucht-asyl/ukrainische-fluechtlinge.html
- Mühleib, M., K. Nachtsheim, A.-K. Schütte, L. Stöcker und M. Wende. 2021. *Studie zur Ausgestaltung der Elternbeiträge in Deutschland* [Study on the format of parental contributions in Germany], herausgegeben vom Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend. Berlin: Ramboll Management Consulting. https://www.fachportal-paedagogik.de/literatur/vollanzeige.html?FId=A37979
- Oberhuemer, P. 2014. "Access and Quality Issues in Early Childhood Education and Care: The Case of Germany." In *An Equal Start? Providing Quality Early Education and Care for Disadvantaged Children*, edited by L. Gambaro, K.J. Stewart, and J. Waldfogel, 121-146. Bristol: The Policy Press.
- Oberhuemer, P., and I. Schreyer. 2018. "Germany ECEC Workforce Profile." In *Early Childhood Workforce Profiles in 30 Countries with Key Contextual Data*, edited by P. Oberhuemer and I. Schreyer, 419-461. Munich. www.seepro.eu/ISBN-publication.pdf
- OECD. 2019. *Bildung, Trends, Zukunft 2019*. [Education, trends, future 2019] https://doi.org/10.1787/738db6c1-de

- OECD. 2019/2020. OECD Lernkompass 2030 [Learning compass 2030] OECD-Project Future of Education and Skills 2030. Rahmenkonzept des Lernens. (in German). https://www.oecd.org/education/2030project/contact/OECD\_Lernkompass\_2030.pdf
- OECD.Stat. 2023. Net childcare costs for parents using childcare facilities. https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=NCC
- Rauschenbach, T. 2008. "Neue Orte für Familien. Institutionelle Entwicklungslinien eltern- und kinderfördernder Angebote." [New places for families. Institutional lines of development for services that support parents and children]. In *Familie im Zentrum* [Families at the centre], herausgegeben von A. Diller, M. Heitkötter und T. Rauschenbach, 133-155. München: Verlag Deutsches Jugendinstitut.
- Rauschenbach, T. und C. Meiner-Teubner. 2019. "Kita-Ausbau in Deutschland. Erstaunliche Erfolge, beträchtliche Herausforderungen" [Expansion of ECEC centres in Germany. Astonishing successes, considerable challenges]. In *DJI Impulse*. Frühe Bildung. Bilanz und Perspektiven für Deutschland. Nr. 121, H. 1/19, 4-9. https://www.fachportal-paedagogik.de/literatur/vollanzeige.html?FId=3343623
- Reichert-Garschhammer, E. 2019. "Digitale Transformation im Bildungssystem Kita" [Digital transformation in the Kita education system]. In Digitale Transformation in der Bildungslandschaft - den analogen Stecker ziehen? [Digital transformation in the education landscape - pulling the analogue plug?], herausgegeben von J. Heider-Lang, und A. Merkert, 25 – 51. Augsburg: Rainer Hampp Verlag. https://doi.org/10.5771/9783957103406-25
- Schipprack, C. 2021. "Bildung für nachhaltige Entwicklung in der frühen Bildung Professionalisierung und Qualitätsentwicklung" [Education for sustainable development in early education - professionalisation and quality development], In *Kita Fachtexte*, Nr. 7/2021. https://www.kita-fachtexte.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/210714\_KitaFachtexte\_Schipprack\_01.pdf
- Schlevogt, V. 2021. Förderung von Kinder- und Familienzentren in Deutschland. Niedersächsisches Institut für Bildung und Entwicklung [Funding of Children's and Family Centres in Germany]. https://www.nifbe.de/component/themensammlung?view=item&id=980:foerderung-von-kinder-undfamilienzentren-in-deutschland
- Schober, P., Blum, S., Reimer, T., Son, K., and A. M. Stertz. 2023. "Country Note Germany." In International Review of Leave Policies and Research 2023, edited by S. Blum, I. Dobrotić, G. Kaufman, A. Koslowski, and P. Moss. https://www.leavenetwork.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/k\_leavenetwork/annual\_reviews/2023/Germany2023.pdf
- Scholz, A., K. Erhard, S. Hahn, and D. Harring. 2019. *Inequalities in Access to Early Childhood Education and Care in Germany. The Equal Access Study.* ICEC Working Paper Series. München: Deutsches Jugendinstitut.
- [SGB] Sozialgesetzbuch VIII. Achtes Buch Kinder und Jugendhilfe. 2012. Förderung in Tageseinrichtungen §22a [Support in ECEC centres §22a]. https://www.sozialgesetzbuch-sgb.de/sgbviii/22a.html
- Spensberger, F. und V. Taube. 2022. "Diversität in der frühkindlichen Bildung, Betreuung, und Erziehung" [Diversity in early childhood education and care]. In: *Kita-Alltag im Fokus – Deutschland im internationalen Vergleich*, herausgegeben von D. Turani, C. Seybel und S. Bader, 225 – 262. Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.
- Statista. 2010. Geschätzte Anzahl der Roma in europäischen Ländern [Estimated number or Roma in European countries]. https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/164659/umfrage/roma-in-europa/
- Statista. 2023. *Statistiken zu Bildungsausgaben* [Statistics on education expenditure]. https://de.statista.com/themen/1115/bildungsausgaben/#topicOverview
- Statista. 2024a. Anzahl der Vorklassen und Schulkindergärten in Deutschland in den Schuljahren von 2010/2011 bis 2022/2023 [Number of Vorklassen and Schulkindergärten in Germany, school years from 2010/2011 to 2022/2023]. https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/235842/umfrage/vor-klassen-und-schulkindergarten-in-deutschland/
- Statista. 2024b. Anzahl der Schülerinnen und Schüler in Vorklassen in Deutschland in den Schuljahren von 2010/2011 bis 2022/2023 [Number of children in Vorklassen and Schulkindergärten in Germany, school years from 2010/2011 to 2022/2023]. https://de.statista.com/statis-tik/daten/studie/1074823/umfrage/anzahl-der-schuelerinnen-in-vorklassen-in-deutschland/
- [SWK] Ständige Wissenschaftliche Kommission der Kultusministerkonferenz Standing Scientific Commission of the Ministers of Education. 2022. *Digitalisierung im Bildungssystem: Handlungsempfehlungen von der Kita bis zur Hochschule* [Digitalisation in the education system: recommendations for action from nursery to university]. Gutachten der Ständigen Wissenschaftlichen Kommission der Kultusministerkonferenz (SWK). http://dx.doi.org/10.25656/01:25273

- Turani, D., C. Seybel und S. Bader. 2022. *Kita-Alltag im Fokus Deutschland im internationalen Vergleich* [Focus on everyday life in ECEC centres - Germany in international comparison]. Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.
- Viernickel, S., und D. Weltzien. 2023. "Bildungspläne und -programme für den Elementarbereich" [Educational plans and programmes for the elementary sector]. In *Frühe Bildung*, 2023, 12 (1), 1–3. https://econtent.hogrefe.com/doi/10.1026/2191-9186/a000606
- Weltzien, D., J. Hohagen, L. Kassel, D. Pasquale und C. Wirth et al. 2022. Wissenschaftlicher Abschlussbericht: Gewinnung von Nachwuchs – Bindung der Profis: Evaluation des Bundesprogramms "Fachkräfteoffensive" (GeBiFa) [Final scientific report: Attracting young talent - retaining professionals: Evaluation of the federal programme "Staffing Campaign" (GeBiFa)]. Freiburg: Zentrum für Kinder- und Jugendforschung.
- Wunderlich, M., S. Schubert und J. Krankenhagen. 2023. KITA als Lernort für Nachhaltigkeit und Klimaschutz [KITA as a place of learning for sustainability and climate protection], edited by Niedersächsischen Institut für frühkindliche Bildung und Entwicklung (nifbe) in co-operation with »Save Our Future« (SOF) und dem Klima-Kita-Netzwerk. https://www.nifbe.de/images/nifbe/Infoservice/Nachhaltigkeit.pdf
- Willekens, H., and K. Scheiwe. 2020. *Looking back. Kindergarten and preschool in Europe since the late* 18<sup>th</sup> century. Hildesheim: Universitätsverlag. https://dx.doi.org/10.18442/126

## Appendix – Federal state curricular frameworks 2023

Baden- Württemberg	Ministerium für Kultus, Jugend und Sport. (Hrsg.). 2011. Orientierungsplan für Bildung und Erziehung in baden-württembergischen Kindergärten und weiteren Kindertageseinrichtungen [Orientation plan for education and upbringing in Baden-Württemberg kindergartens and other ECEC settings]. https://kindergaerten.kultus-bw.de/site/pbs-bw-new/get/documents/KULTUS.Dachman- dant/KULTUS/Projekte/kindergaerten-bw/Oplan/Material/KM-KIGA_Orientierungs- plan_2011.pdf
Bavaria	Bayerisches Staatsministerium für Arbeit und Sozialordnung, Familie und Frauen & Staatsinstitut für Frühpädagogik (Hrsg.). 2019. <i>Der Bayerische Bildungs- und Erziehungsplan für Kinder in Tageseinrichtungen bis zur Ein- schulung</i> [The Bavarian framework plan for the education and upbringing of children in centre-based ECEC settings up to statutory school age]. https://www.ifp.bayern.de/veroeffentlichungen/books/bildungs-erziehungsplan/
Berlin	Senatsverwaltung für Bildung, Jugend und Wissenschaft. (Hrsg.). 2014. Berliner Bildungsprogramm für Kitas und Kindertagespflege [Berlin education programme for centre-based and home-based ECEC settings]. https://www.berlin.de/sen/jugend/familie-und-kinder/kindertagesbetreuung/berli- ner_bildungsprogramm_2014.pdf
Brandenburg	Ministerium für Bildung, Jugend und Sport des Landes Brandenburg. (Hrsg.) 2011. Grundsätze elementarer Bildung in Einrichtungen der Kindertagesbetreuung im Land Brandenburg [Principles of early childhood education in ECEC settings in the state of Brandenburg]. https://mbjs.brandenburg.de/media_fast/6288/grundsaetze_elementarer_bildung.pdf
Bremen	Freie Hansestadt Bremen. Der Senator für Arbeit, Frauen, Gesundheit, Jugend und Sozia- les. (Hrsg.) 2012. <i>Rahmenplan für Bildung und Erziehung im Elementarbereich</i> [Framework plan for educa- tion and upbringing in the early childhood sector]. https://www.soziales.bremen.de/sixcms/media.php/13/Jugendsenatorin_Rahmen- plan_2012_web.pdf
Hamburg	Freie und Hansestadt Hamburg - Behörde für Arbeit, Soziales, Familie und Integration. (Hrsg.). 2012. Hamburger Bildungsempfehlungen für die Bildung und Erziehung von Kindern in Tagesein- richtungen [Educational recommendations of the city state of Hamburg for the education and upbringing of children in ECEC centres]. https://www.hamburg.de/content- blob/118066/2a650d45167e815a43999555c6c470c7/data/bildungsempfehlungen.pdf
Hesse	Hessisches Ministerium für Soziales und Integration & Hessisches Kultusministerium (Hrsg.). 2019. <i>Bildung von Anfang an. Bildungs- und Erziehungsplan für Kinder von 0 bis 10 Jahren in</i> <i>Hessen</i> [Education right from the start. Framework plan for education and upbringing for children from 0 to 10 years in Hesse]. https://bep.hessen.de/sites/bep.hessen.de/files/2022-11/BEP_2019_Web.pdf
Lower Saxony	Niedersächsisches Kultusministerium. (Hrsg.). 2018. <i>Orientierungsplan für Bildung und Erziehung</i> [Orientation plan for education and upbring- ing]. https://www.mk.niedersachsen.de/download/4491
Mecklenburg- Western Pomerania	Ministerium für Soziales, Integration und Gleichstellung. (Hrsg.). 2020. Bildungskonzeption für 0- bis 10-jährige Kinder in Mecklenburg-Vorpommern [Conceptual framework for the education of 0 to 10 year-old children in Mecklenburg-Western Pome- rania]. https://www.regierung-mv.de/serviceassistent/download?id=1645616

\* \* \*

North Rhine- Westphalia	Ministerium für Kinder, Familie, Flüchtlinge und Integration des Landes Nordrhein-West- falen & Ministerium für Schule und Bildung des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen. (Hrsg.). 2018.
	Bildungsgrundsätze für Kinder von 0 bis 10 Jahren in Kindertagesbetreuung und Schulen im Primarbereich in Nordrhein-Westfalen [Educational principles for children from 0 to 10 years in the early childhood and primary sectors in North Rhine-Westphalia]. https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/Bildungsgrund- saetze_Stand_2018.pdf
Rhineland- Palatinate	Ministerium für Bildung, Frauen und Jugend. (Hrsg.). 2018. Bildungs- und Erziehungsempfehlungen für Kindertagesstätten in Rheinland-Pfalz [Educa- tion and upbringing recommendations for ECEC centres in Rhineland-Palatinate]. https://kita.rlp.de/fileadmin/kita/04_Service/BEE/index.html#p=Titel
Saarland	Ministerium für Bildung und Kultur. (Hrsg.). 2018. <i>Bildungsprogramm mit Handreichungen für saarländische Krippen und Kindergärten</i> [Educational programme with guidelines for Saarland nurseries and kindergartens]. https://www.saarland.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/mbk/Bildungsserver/Bildungspro- gramm/Bildungsprogramm_mit_Handreichungen_zur_Ansicht.pdf?blob=publication- File&v=1
Saxony	Sächsisches Staatsministerium für Kultus. (Hrsg.). 2011. <i>Der Sächsische Bildungsplan – ein Leitfaden für pädagogische Fachkräfte in Krippen, Kin- dergärten und Horten sowie für Kindertagespflege</i> [The Saxony Education Plan – a guide for pedagogy professionals in nurseries, kindergartens, after-school care centres and home-based ECEC settings]. https://www.kita-bildungsserver.de/wp-content/themes/kita-bildungsserver.de/inc/do- kumente_zum_download_ausliefern.inc.php?did=37
Saxony-Anhalt	Ministerium für Arbeit und Soziales. (Hrsg.). 2014. <i>Bildungsprogramm für Kindertageseinrichtungen in Sachsen-Anhalt. Bildung: elementar –</i> <i>Bildung von Anfang an</i> [Education programme for ECEC centres in Saxony-Anhalt. <i>ele-</i> <i>mentar</i> : Education right from the start]. https://ms.sachsen-anhalt.de/fileadmin/Bibliothek/Politik_und_Verwal- tung/MS/MS/Presse_Dialog_Kita/2014/bildungsprogramm_2014.pdf
Schleswig- Holstein	Ministerium für Soziales, Gesundheit, Jugend, Familie und Senioren. (Hrsg.). 2020. <i>Leitlinien zum Bildungsauftrag in Kindertagesstätten</i> [Guidelines for the educational man- date in ECEC centres]. https://www.schleswig-holstein.de/DE/landesregierung/ministerien-behoerden/VIII/Ser- vice/Broschueren/Broschueren_VIII/Kita/BildungsleitlinienDeutsch.pdf?blob=publica- tionFile&v=2
Thuringia	Thüringer Ministerium für Bildung, Jugend und Sport. (Hrsg.). 2019. <i>Thüringer Bildungsplan bis 18 Jahre</i> [The Thuringia Education Plan up to 18 years of age]. https://bildung.thueringen.de/fileadmin/bildung/bildungsplan/thueringer_bild- ungsplan_18_dasnetz.pdf